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Case No.
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NERLINE HORACE-MANASSE;
and
(GERALD SANON,

Plaintiffs,
V.

GEORGE THEODULE,

DOROTHY DELISFOR I-THEODULE;
YOLETTE THEODUL E~-WILLIAMS,;

MARIO THEGDULE;

JuLIUs THEODULE,

Y VES THEODULE;

A CREATIVE CAPITAL CONCEPTS, LLC; and
CREATIVE CAPITAL CONSORTIUM, LLC,

Defendants

/

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINTE

Plaintiffs NERLINE HORACE-MANASSE and GERALD SANON, individually and m their
representative capacity for all those similarly sitvated, sue Defendants GEORGE THEODULE
(“Theodule”), DOROTHY DEL ISFORT-THEODULE, YOLETTE THEODULE-WILLIAMS, MARIO THEODULE,
JULIUS THEODULE, YVES THEODULE, A CREATIVE CAPITAL CONCEPTS, LLC (“Concept$™), and

CREATIVE CAPITAT CONSORTIUM (“Consortium™), and state as follows '

"Hereinafter, Defendants Dorothy Delisfort-Theodule, Yolette Theodule-Williams, Mario Theodule, Julius
Theodule, and Yves Theodule are referred to as the “Individual Defendants.” And as mentioned above, George
Theodule is referred to simply as “Theodule,”™ A Creative Capital Concept$, LLC is referred to as “Concept$,” and
Creative Capital Consertium, LLC is referred to as “Cansortium ™
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NATURE OF ACTION

1 This is a federal securities class action arising from yet another massive Ponzi scheme
that has caused millions of dollars in losses to hundreds, if not thousands, of investors. Plamtiils now
bring the following causes of action against Defendants:

Count I - Violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(“Exchange Act of 1934”), 15 US C §78j, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
thereunder, 17 CF R § 240 10b-5;

Count II - Violations of Section 12(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (1933 Act”), 15
UsScC §77;

Count T - Violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act of 1934, 15U S C §78t;

Count IV - Violations of Section 15 of the 1933 Act; 15U S C §770; '

Count V - Unjust Enrichment; and

Count VI - Breach of Fiduciary Duty.

And pursuant to those claims, Plaintiffs seek damages, rescission, pre-judgment interest, and costs.
PARTIES _

2 Plaintiff Nerline Horace-Manasse is a resident of West Palm Beach, Ilorida. During
all times material to this action, Ms Horace-Manasse tesided in Florida

3 Plaintiff Gerald Sanonis aresident of Lawrenceville, Georgia Duringall times material
to this action, Mr Sanon resided in Georgia

4 During all times material to this action, Defendant George Theodule — the mastermind
of a massive Ponzi scheme that bilked investors out of millions of dollars — resided in Florida and
conducted business both individually and through various entities in Florida and elsewhere Theodule
solicited investments from Plaintiffs and others both individually and through Concept$, Consortium,
and various “investment clubs” to promote and perpetuate the Ponzi scheme. On information and
belief, Theodule has fled Florida, currently resides in Georgia, and is an imminent threat to flee
Georgia as well On further information and belief, Theodule traveled to Zurich, Switzerland just last
week

5. Defendant Dorothy Delisfort-Theodule is a resident of Georgia who conducted

business both individually and through various entities in Florida and elsewhere She is Theodule’s



wife, and she solicited investments from Plaintiffs and others both individually and through Concept$,
Consortium, and various “investment clubs” to promote and perpetuate the Ponzi scheme

6 Defendant Yolette Theodule-Williams is a resident of Florida who conducted business
both individually and through various entities in Florida and elsewhere She is Theodule’s sister, and
she solicited investments from Plaintiffs and others both individually and through Concept$,
Consortium, and various “investment clubs” to promote and perpetuate the Ponzi scheme

7 Defendant Mario Theodule is a resident of Florida who conducted business both
individually and through Varioué entities in Florida and elsewhere He is Theodule’s brother, and he
solicited investments from Plaintiffs and others both individually and through Concept$, Consortium,
and various “investment clubs” to promote and perpetuate the Ponzi scheme

8 Defendant Tulius Theodule is a resident of Illincis who conducted business both
individually and through various entities in Florida and elsewhere He is Theodule’s son, and he
solicited investments from Plaintiffs and others both individually and through Concept$, Consortium,
and various “investment clubs” to promote and perpetuate the Ponzi scheme.

9 Defendant Yves Theodule is a resident of Illinois who conducted business both
individually and through various entities in Florida and elsewhere Sheis Theodule’s refative and she
solicited investments from Plaintiffs and others both individually and through Concept3, Consoitium,
and various “investment clubs” to promote and perpetuate the Ponzi scheme

10 Defendant A Creative Capital Concept$, LLC is an inactive Florida Limited Liability
Company that conducted business in Florida from the principal address of 10176 Sheila Ct,
Wellington, Florida during all times material to this action. Concept$ was used by Theodule and the
Tndividual Defendants to raise funds to promote and perpetuate the Ponzi scheme On September 26,
2008, the company was administratively dissolved for failure to file an annual report.

11 Defendant Creative Capital Consortium, LLC is an active Florida Limited Liability
Company that conducted business in Florida from the principal address of 8461 I.ake Worth Road,
Suite 128, Lake Worth, Florida during all times material to this action. Consortium was used by
Theodule and the Individual Defendants to raise funds to promote and perpetuate the Ponzi scheme

Today, the doors to its Lake Worth headquarters are closed and the premises appears to be
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abandoned

12 Theodule and the Individual Defendants directly participated in the management of
Concept$ and Consortium, were directly involved in the day-to-day operations of Concept$ and
Consortium, and were privy to confidential information concerning those companies and their business
operations, by which Plaintiffs and members of the Class were bilked out of millions of dollars via
Defendants’ fraudulent Ponzi scheme. Tn violation of federal securities laws and the commeon law,
Defendants all knowingly, or with reckless disregard, made material misrepresentations and, more
significantly, failed to disclose material information to Plaintiffs, including the primary omissions that
form the heart of the claims herein, namely the Defendants’ failure to inform Plaintiffs that: (a) any and

all investment returns depended on the contribution of moneys from new invesiots; and (b) that

Defendants fittended simply to steal Plaintiffs’ moneys pursuant to an illegal Ponzi scheme
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

13 This Court has jurisdiction of this action pursuant to 28 US.C § 1337, Section 27 of
the Exchange Act of 1934 (15U S.C § 78aa), 28 U S C. § 1331, and Section 22(a) of the 1933 Act
(15U8C § 77v(a)) The Court also has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state law claims
undet 28 US C § 1367

14 Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 27 of Exchange Act of 1934 and
Section 22(a) of the 1933 Act, as Defendanis conducted business in this district and many ol the
Defendants® acts and conduct charged herein occurred in this district At all times material to this
action, the offices of the umbrella organizations used to perpetrate the Ponzi scheme —i.e , Concept$
and Consortium — were located in this district

15 This Court has personal jurisdiction over all Defendants in that each Defendant
participated in the illegal activities and wrongful conduct described herein, in this district.

16 Tn connection with the acts and course of conduct alleged in this Complaint, the
Defendants directly or indirectly used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce,

including but not limited to the United States mail, interstate wires, and interstate telephone

commumnications.



CLASS ALLEGATIONS

17.  All Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action against all Defendants pursuant to Rule
23(a) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of'a class consisting of all persons
and entities who provided moneys to Defendants, or to individuals ot entities who were raising funds
on behalf of Defendants, for purposes of “investing” in Defendants’ fraudulent Ponzi scheme (the
“Class™), from fanuary 2007 through today and thereafter (“Class Period”) ?

18 On information and belief, there are hundreds, if not thousands, of members in the
proposed Class (the “Class Members”). While over fifty percent (50%) of the Class Members reside
in Florida, members of the Class are so numerous and geographically dispersed throughout the United
States and, to a lesser extent abroad, that joinder of all Class Members is impracticable

19 Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of all Class Members, and have
retained counsel competent and experienced in class, securities, and commercial-fraud litigatton.

20 Plaintiffs' claims are typical of the claims of the Class Members, as Defendants engaged
in a single, massive Ponzi scheme to steal Plaintiffs’ and the Class Members” moneys, and made
identical omissions of material facts in soliciting Plaintiffs and the Class Members to entrust their
moneys to Defendants pursuant to the scheme

21 All Class Members susiained damages arising out of Defendants' wrongful conduct in
violation of federal law and the common law.

22 There are questions of law and fact common to the Class which predominate over any
questions solely affecting individual Class Members. Among the questions of Taw and fact common
to all Class Members are:

a whether Defendants engaged in a massive Ponzi scheme to steal moneys from

the Class;

b whether Defendants’ acts alleged herein violated federal securities fraud and

*Fxcluded from the Class are: Defendants, including their subsidiaries, affiliates, and their collective officers,
agents, and employees; any “investment clubs” that solicited moneys on behalf or at the direction of Defendants; any
officers, directors, principals, managers, or employees of any such investment clubs; members of the extended families
of each Defendant, together with their heirs, successots and assigns; and individuals or entities who orovided moneys
to Defendants, or to individuals or entities who were raising funds on behalf of Defendants, for purposes of “investing”
in Defendants’ fraudulent Ponzi scheme, but who received back moneys in excess of the amount “invested ™
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registration statutes, and the common law,

C. whether Theodule and the Individual Defendants were control persons under
the 1933 Act and the Exchange Act of 1934;

d whether Defendants, together and with others, in connection with the purchase
or sale of securities described herein, with intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud, and/or with severe
recklessness:

1 employed a device, scheme and artifice to defraud,

il made untrue statements of material facts and omitted material facts
necessary to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading; and/or

1l engaged in acts, practices and courses of business which have operated
as a fraud upon the purchasers of such securities;

e whether the securities that Defendants sold to Plaintiffs and the Class Members
were registered in compliance with federal statutes;

f whether Defendants have been unjustly enriched at the Class’s expense;

g whether Defendants breached their fiduciary duties to Plaintiffs and the Class
Members; and

h whether the Class has sustained damages, and, if so, what is the proper measure
of damages.

23 A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy because joinder of the hundreds (if not thousands) of Class Members
is impracticable Furthermore, as the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively
small, the expense and burden of individual litigation make it impossible for the Class Members to
individually redress the wrongs done to them  There will be no difficulty in the management of this

action as a class action

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

24 In 2007 and early 2008, Theodule began planting the seeds for a massive, multi-state
Ponzi scheme that ultimately would hoodwink Plaintiffs and the Class Members out of millions of



dollais

25 Theodule’s first steps in the scheme were to establish Concept$ and Consortium  Both
of those companies would serve as the umbrella organizations for the scheme, purporiedly to provide
investment advice to hundreds, if not thousands, of investors, including Plaintiffs and the Class
Members.

26 Theodule and the Individual Defendants then established dozens of “investment clubs™
in 2007 and 2008 in Florida, Georgia, and other states to aid in the scheme and steal investors’
moneys Defendants continue to establish such clubs in Florida and Georgia to this very day

27 Theodule used his Haitian background, his self-proclaimed status as a “Man of God,”
and his purported interest in helping to build wealth for his fellow Haitians, to solicit funds from
members of the Haitian community — including Plaintiffs and the Class Members — in ¥Florida, Georgia,
and elsewhere to invest with Concept$, Consortium, and various “investment clubs”™ controlled by
Theodule and the Individual Defendants.

28  Insoliciting investments from Plaintiffs and the Class Members, Defendants represented
that Theodule, an officer, director, and/or principal of Concept$ and Consortium, would act as the
head investment “strategist,” make all investment decisions, and invest the funds entrusted to
Defendants in various securities, inciuding stocks, bonds, and options.

29 Defendants (mis)represented to Plaintiffs and the Class Members that the principal
amount invested — which was not permitted to be withdrawn during the first ninety days after
investment — was guaranteed as a “zero-loss.”

30 Defendants further (mis)represented to Plaintitfs and the Class Members that under
Defendants’ investment “strategies,” Plaintiffs” and the Class Members’ moneys would double invalue
every three months

31.  Based onthe above misrepresentations, Plaintiffs and the Class Members provided and
entrusted their moneys to Defendants, investing with Defendants in a common enterprise, where
Plaintiffs and the Class Members expected profits solely from Defendants’ efforts

32 Unbeknownst to Plaintiffs and the Class Members, Defendants had not filed any

registration statements for the securities sold to Plaintiffs and the Class Members (neither were
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Theodule, nor any of the other Defendants, registered with the state of Florida or any other state to
sell securities or provide investment advice) Nevertheless, Defendants sold unregistered securities
to Plaintiffs and the Class Members (and purported to provide investment advice).

33 Further unbeknownst to Plaintiffs and the Class Members, any and all investment
returns were dependent on contributions of moneys from new investors, and Defendants intended to
steal Plaintiffs’ and the Class Members® moneys pursuant to a Ponzi scheme

34 Once Plaintiffs and the Class Members provided their moneys to the “investment ¢lubs™
that Defendants controlled, Defendants caused certain funds belonging to Plaintiffs and the Class
Members to be transferred from the investment clubs to Concept$, Consortium, and third-party
entities, where the moneys were pooled together and traded in securities markets by Defendants. But
Defendants caused significant portions of the funds belonging to Plaintiffs and the Class Members to
be transferred to Defendants and other third parties in blatant acts of theft.

35 Throughout the bulk of 2008, Defendants misrepresented to Plamtiffs and the Class
Members — both orally and in writing — that Plaintiffs’ and the Class Members” moneys had doubled
in value every three months  As just one example, Plaintiff Nerline Horace-Manasse invested $20,000
in Febluary 2008 with Defendants and an “investment club” that Defendants established, Crown
Ambassador Investment, LLC  Three months later, in May 2008, Ms Horace-Manasse was
(mis)informed in writing that her investment principal had doubled to $40,000 Three months after
that, in August 2008, she was (mis)informed in writing that she had again doubled her moneys and that
her balance with Crown Ambassador thus stood at $80,000. None of those representations were true

36 Defendants made similar misrepresentations to Plaintiff Gerald Sanon and the other
Class Members regarding the purported doubling of their respective moneys throughout 2008

37 During the first half of 2008, certain investors requested to withdraw their purported
investment gains, but, of course, there were no such gains to provide to the investors And with no
such gains available to honor the withdrawal requests, Defendants instead provided these early
investors with subsequent investors’ moneys in classic Ponzi-scheme fashion As just one example,
Plaintiff Gerald Sanon made an initial investment of $25,000 in or about February 2008, and on or

about May 2008, he received back his original $25,000 investment, plus an additional $25,000 for a
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total return of $50,000 (less Defendant’s “fee”) This created the illusion that the scheme was
legitimate, as Defendants’ investment strategies seemingly had produced the promised 100% returns.
This deception permitted Defendants to continue soliciting additional investments from existing and
new investors without anyone suspecting foul play Indeed, after Mr Sanon received the
aforementioned $50,000 from Defendants, he invested $100,000 with Defendants in Tune 2008 But
by then, the Ponzi scheme was on the verge of collapse and, in fact, Mr. Sanon has not received back
a single penny in conjunction with his second mvestment, notwithstanding repeated demands

38 Like every Ponzi scheme, Defendants’ scheme ultimately collapsed Tn the summer of
2008, Plaintiffs and certain members of the Class sought to withdraw their moneys. Defendants,
however, informed Plaintiffs and the Class Members that no moneys could be distributed at that time,
but rather that distributions would be available in or around November 2008, or thereafter But that
too was not true  Rather, Defendants were merely seeking to buy time —as is often the case when a

Ponzi scheme is on the verge of collapse

39 Indeed, when Plaintiffs and certain membets of the Class arrived at Consortium’s
headquarters in Lake Worth, Florida, beginning in or around November 2008 to withdraw their
moneys, the doors were locked, the business appeated to be abandoned, and obviousty no moneys
were distributed to Plaintiffs and the Class Members

40 To date, Plaintiffs and the Class Members — many of whom entrusted their entire life
savings to Defendants — have suffered massive losses due to the fraudulent scheme perpetrated by

Defendants

41 But for Defendants’ fraud, there would have been no market for the securities and
investment coniracts that Defendants sold to Plaintiffs and the Class Members

42 Defendants” wrongful conduct, as alleged herein, directly and proximately caused the

damages suffered by Plaintiffs and the Class.

43 All required conditions precedent have been performed or have occurted prior to filing
this Complaint

44 Plaintiffs have retained the undersigned attorneys to this bring this action, and have

agreed to pay reasonable attorney’s fees to the undersigned
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CounT I
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 10(B) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, 15U.S.C. § 787
AND RULE 108-5, 17 C.E.R. § 240.108-5
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

45 Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set
forth herein.

46 All Defendants are sued either as primary participants in the wrongful and illegal
conduct alleged herein or as controlling persons as alieged herein.

47 Beginning in January 2007 and continuing through today, Defendants, mdividually and
in concert, directly and indirectly, by use of the means and instrumentality of interstate commeree, and
of the mails in connection with the purchase or sale of securities described herein, have with knowing
intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud, and/or with severe recklessness:

a employed a device, scheme and artifice to defraud;

b. made untrue statements of material facts and omitted material facts necessary
to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading; and

c engaged in acts, practices and courses of business which have operated as a
fraud upon the purchasers of such securities

48 Specifically, Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act of 1934 when
they, knowingly with intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud, and/or with severe recklessness,
solicited and accepted investment moneys from Plaintiffs and the Class Members while failing
wniformly to inform Plaintiffs and the Class Membets, that:

a none of the Defendants were registered with the State of Florida or any other
state to sell securities or provide investment advice;

b the securities in which Plaintiffs and the Class Members were investmg were
not registeted,

c any and all returns on investment were dependent on contributions of moneys
from new investors; and

d Defendants intended simply to steal Plaintiffs” and the Class Members’ moneys
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through a Ponzi scheme.

49 Simply put, Defendants solicited and accepted moneys ffom Plaintiffs and the Class
Members while standing uniformly mute regarding the true nature of the Ponzi scheme.
50 Under the circumstances described in this Complaint, Plamntiffs and all memberts of the
Class are entitled to a Class-wide presumption of reliance because:
a The fraud attributable to Defendants created the market for the securities at

issue — 2.¢., there would have been no market for the securities at issue but for the fraud perpetrated

by Defendants;

b Defendants perpetrated their fraudulent Ponzi scheme primarily via omissions
_ i, Defendants failed to disclose that payment of the promised investment returns necessarily
depended on the contribution of moneys from new investors and, moreover, Defendants intended
simply to steal the moneys “invested” by Plaintiffs and members of the Class; and

c All Plaintiffs and Class Members were victimized by the same common couise
of'ﬁ‘aud péxpetrated by Defendaﬁts.

51 Simply put, Plaintiffs and all other members of the Class are entitled to a Class-wide
presumption of reliance because Defendanis perpetrated a fraudulent Ponzi scheme on unwitting
investors, and no reasonable actor would choose to “invest” in a frauduient Ponzi scheme that aimed
simply to steal investors” moneys

52 Since in or about the Summer of 2008, Defendants have prohibited Plaintiffs and all
members of the Class from making any withdrawals of their principal amounts invested or theit
purported gains In addition, the doors to Concept$’s and Consortium’s businesses are closed, the
business premises appears to be abandoned, and Theodule and his Defendant-wife have fled Florida
Accordingly, there exists a strong inference that Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange
Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder by acting with knowing intent to deceive, manipulate or defraud and/or
with severe recklessness.

53 As a direct and proximate result of the conduct alleged herein and Defendants’

violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, Plaintiffs and the Class

Members have suffered damages in connection with their investments with Defendants
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendants for damages, plus pre-judgment

interest, costs, and all such other relief the Court deems just and proper

PLEASE SEE COUNT 11 ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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Count I ,
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 12(a) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 77L
(AGAINST AL DEFENDANTS)

54 Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth herein

55 Defendants failed to file any registration statement as to the subject securities that
Defendants sold to Plaintiffs and the Class Members

56 Notwithstanding the fact that Defendants failed to file a registration statement,
Defendants offered and sold securities to Plaintiffs and the Class Members

57 The subject securities were offered and sold to Plaintiffs and the Class Members
through the use of interstate transportation or communication and the mails

58 All Defendants have offered, sold, promoted, solicited, or passed titled on the subject
securities to Plaintiffs and the Class Members, and thus are statutory sellers to Plaintiffs and the Class
Membetrs

59 As such, all Defendants have violated section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933 and are
liable to all Plamtiffs and Class Members who have purchased securities from Defendants.

60 As a ditect and proximate result of the conduct alleged herein, Plaintiffs and the Class
Members have suffered damages in connection with their investments with Defendants

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment againsi Defendants for rescission and/or damages,

pre-judgment intetest, costs, and all such other relief the Court deems just and propet

PLEASE SEE COUNT ITI ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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Count II1
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 20(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT 0¥ 1934, 15 U.8.C, § 781
{AGAINST THEODULLE AND THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS)

61 Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth herein

62 As alleged more fully above, Defendants’ conduct violated Section 10(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder

63 During all times material to this action, Theodule and the Individual Defendants had
the power, both direct and indirect, to controt Concept$ and Consortium, did in fact exercise such
control, and were therefore “controlling persons™ within the meaning of Section 20(a) ofthe Exchange

Act 0’1934
64  Plaintiffs and the Class Members have been damaged by the wrongful conduct of

Theodule and Individual Defendants through their control of Concept$ and Consortium, in that the
wrongful conduct caused Plaintiffs and the Class Members to invest in Defendants’ Ponzi scheme and

lose their moneys.

65.  Assuch, Theodule and the Individual Defendants are jointly and severally liable for all
damages or losses suffered by Plaintiffs and the Class Members

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Theodule and the Individual Defendants for
rescission and/or damages, pre-judgment interest, costs, and all such other relief the Court deems just

and proper

PLEASE SEE COUNT IV ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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Count IV
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 15 OF THE SECURITIES ACY OF 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 770
(AGAINST THEODULE AND THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS)

66, Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth heremn
67 As alleged more fully above, Defendants’ conduct violated Section 5 of the Securities

Act 0f'1933 and Section 12(a)

68 During all times material to this action, Theodule and the Individual Defendants had
the power, both direct and indirect, to control Concept$ and Consortium, did in fact exercise such
control, and were therefore “controlting persons” within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act

69 Plaintiffs and the Class Members have been damaged by the wrongful conduct of
Theodule and Individual Defendants through their control of Concept$ and Consortium, in that the
wrongful conduct caused Plaintiffs and the Class Members to invest in Defendants’ Ponzi scheme and
lose therr moneys.

70 As such, Theodule and the Individual Defendants are jointly and severally liable for all
damages or losses suffered by Plaintiffs and the Class Members

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Theodule and the Individual Defendants for

rescission and/or damages, pre-judgment intetest, costs, and all such other relief the Court deems just

and proper.

PLEASE SEE COUNT V ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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COUNT V
UNJUST ENRICHMENT
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)
71 Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth herein.
72. By entrusting their moneys to Defendants, Plaintiffs and the Class Members conferred
benefits on Defendants by investing in the Ponzi scheme Defendants have perpetrated on unwiliing

victims Defendants had knowledge of those benefits.

73 Defendants voluntarily accepted and retained the benefits conferred by Plaintiffs and
the Class Members
74, The circumstances are such that it would be inequitable for Defendants to retain the

benefits without paying the value thereof to Plaintiffs and the Class Members.

75 Defendants have been unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiffs and the Class
Members.

76 Plaintiffs and the Class Members are entitled to damages as a result of Defendants’
unjust enrichment, including the disgorgement of all moneys unlawfully accepted by Defendants from
Plaintitfs and the Class Members

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendants for damages, prejudgment

interest, costs, and all such other relief the Court deems just and proper

PLEASE SEE COUNT VI ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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Count VI
BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

77 Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth herem

78 Plaintiffs and the Class Members shared a relationship with Defendants whereby
Defendants held themselves out as worthy of the trust and confidence of Plaintiffs and all Class
members, Plaintiffs and the Class Members in fact reposed trust and confidence in Defendants to imvest
Plaintiffs” and the Class Members® moneys prudently, and Defendants undertook such trust and
assumed a duty to advise and counsel Plaintiffs and the Class Members, and to protect Plaintiffs” and
the Class Members™ assets.

79 Defendants breached their duties to advise and counsel Plaintiffs and the Class
Members, and to protect Plaintiffs” and the Class Members’ assets.

30 Defendants’ breaches caused Plaintiffs and the Class Members to suffer damages.

WHERFEFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendants for damages, puniiive damages,
prejudgment inferest, costs, and all such other relief the Court deems just and proper

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

81 Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury on all issues so triable

Respectfully submitted,

DIMOND KAPLAN & ROTHSTEIN, P A
Offices at Trump Plaza
5235 South Flagler Drive, Suite 200
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone:  (561) 671-1920
Facsimile: (561) 671-1951
Email: diothsteinf@dkipa.com
levyi@dkipa.com
blevin@dkipa.com

D D A ROTHSTEIN
_~""Fla Bar No 056881
-~ JARED A LEVY
Fla Bar No. 645486
BRIAN LEVIN

Fla Bar No 26392
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